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MEMORANDUM

TO: Joya Hayes, Director of Civil Service

FROM: Joel G. Baker, Fire Chief

DATE: December 12, 2019

SUBJECT: Indefinite Suspension of Fire Specialist Raul Garcia
Professional Standards Office Case Number 19-028

Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 143 of the Texas Local Government Code, Section
143.052, and Rule 10, Rules of Procedure for the Fire Specialists’, Police Officers’, and
Emergency Medical Services Personnel Civil Service Commission, I have indefinitely
suspended Fire Specialist (FS) Raul Garcia from duty effective December 12, 2019. I
took this action because FS Garcia violated Civil Service Commission Rule 10.03 which
sets forth the grounds for disciplinary suspensions of employees in the classified service
and states:

No employee of the classified service of the City of Austin shall engage
in, or be involved in, any of the following acts or conduct, and the same
shall constitute cause for suspension of an employee from the classified
service of the City:

Rule 10.03(F) — Acts showing lack of good moral character.

Rule 10.03(H) — Conduct prejudicial to good order.

Rule 10.03(L) Violation of any of the rules and regulations of the Fire,
Police or EMS Departments, or of special orders, as applicable.

The following are the specific acts committed by FS Garcia in violation of Rule 10.03:

Based upon the facts described in detail below, on September 13, 2019, the Austin Fire
Department (AFD) was made aware that the Williamson County District Attorney’s
office was considering a complaint against FS Garcia for Invasive Visual Recording
(Texas Penal Code 21.15) and Unlawful Disclosure or Promotion of Intimate Visual
Material (Texas Penal Code 21.16) (a custody arrest was never made). Violations of
these statutes are State Jail Felonies. The Williamson County District Attorney’s Office
decided not to prosecute the Unlawful Disclosure or Promotion of Intimate Visual
Material complaint because the victim did not wish to cooperate to press charges against
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Garcia. The complaint of Invasive Visual Recording was presented to a Williamson
County Grand Jury, which chose not to indict PS Garcia.

Regardless of whether or not FS Garcia was arrested, criminal charges were filed, and/or
he was found guilty of any criminal charge, he violated the aforementioned Civil Service
Rules. Furthennore, since this conduct is allegedly related to criminal behavior, the 180-
day date for disciplinary purposes began on September 13, 2019, the date the Department
discovered the conduct for which PS Garcia was still subject to prosecution under the
applicable criminal statute of limitations. For the reasons stated below, particularly FS
Garcia’s admissions that he did violate these laws, I have concluded that he violated the
aforementioned Civil Service Rules, for which the appropriate discipline is an indefinite
suspension.

PS Garcia was dating a woman who shall be referred to only as Ms. D. Ms. D told AFD’s
Professional Standards Office (PSO) that she began dating PS Garcia in January 2019.
Ms. D told the PSO that FS Garcia began sending her pictures of his genitalia and asked
her to send him nude pictures of herself According to Ms. D, she repeatedly told PS
Garcia that she would not send such pictures to him.

Supposedly, to persuade Ms. D to send him nude photos of herselt Ms. D stated that FS
Garcia mentioned to her that a former girlfriend of his had allowed FS Garcia to record
their sexual encounters. FS Garcia shared with Ms. D photos of a sexual nature that
showed his ex-girifriend. Ms. D pointed to PS Garcia’s willingness to share such content
as a reason that she would not send FS Garcia such photos of herself When PS Garcia
was interviewed by the PSO, he admitted to showing Ms. D these pictures without the
knowledge or consent of his ex-girifriend. This is a violation of the Texas Penal Code,
Unlawful Disclosure ofIntimate Visual Material.

In May 2019, Ms. D stated that she asked PS Garcia if he had ever videotaped them
having sex. According to PS Garcia, he admitted to her that he did without her
knowledge or consent on at least one occasion. PS Garcia stated that he felt bad for doing
it, noted that he had feelings for Ms. D, and wanted to be honest with her about what he
had done. FS Garcia self-disclosed to Ms. D that he had made an intimate recording
without her knowledge or consent. When PS Garcia was interviewed by the PSO, he
admitted to filming Ms. D on that occasion without her knowledge or consent. This is a
violation of the Texas Penal Code, Invasive Visual Recording.
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The P50 investigation confirmed with the Williamson County Sherriff’s Office (WILCO
SO) that Ms. D had consented to FS Garcia filming other sexual encounters between
them, and apparently after learning this specific recording had been made, she stated to
FS Garcia he could keep it. The PSO investigation also confirmed that Ms. D did not
report this to the police until after they broke up and she discovered that FS Garcia was
having sexual relations with another woman, at which time Ms. D allegedly threatened to
tell the Police and AFD about the videos. Finally, the criminal and administrative
investigations determined that Ms. D had credibility issues (e.g. she denied she sent FS
Garcia intimate pictures of herself but the WILCO SO determined that she did).
Assuming these facts are true, it does not change that, in both instances, Ms. D had a
reasonable expectation of privacy in these sexual encounters, or the fact that FS Garcia
admitted his conduct violated the cited provisions of the Texas Penal Code.

By these actions, FS Specialist Garcia violated Rule 10.03 (F), (H), & (L). FS Garcia
violated Rule 10.03(L) by violating the following rules and regulations of the Austin Fire
Department:

Austin Fire Department Policy E201 Code of Conduct:

• Page 3, V.D — Whether on or off duty, members shall conduct themselves in a
manner that will bring credit to themselves and the Fire Department.

• Page 3, V.E — Whether on or off duty, members shall obey all laws of the United
States, the State of Texas, and the ordinances of the City of Austin. Failure to
comply with all laws shall subject a member to disciplinary action up to and
including indefinite suspension.

To Wit:

Texas Penal Code: Sec. 21.15. iNVASIVE VISUAL RECORDING.
(a) In this section:

(1) “Female breast” means any portion of the female breast below the
top of the areola.

(2) “Intimate area” means the naked or clothed genitals, pubic area, anus,
buttocks, or female breast of a person.

(3) “Changing room” means a room or portioned area provided for or
primarily used for the changing of clothing and includes dressing
rooms, locker rooms, and swimwear changing areas.

(4) “Promote” has the meaning assigned by Section 43.21.
(b) A person commits an offense if, without the other person’s consent and with
intent to invade the privacy of the other person, the person:

(1) photographs or by videotape or other electronic means records,
broadcasts, or transmits a visual image of an intimate area of
another person if the other person has a reasonable expectation that
the intimate area is not subject to public view;

(2) photographs or by videotape or other electronic means records,
broadcasts, or transmits a visual image of another in a bathroom or
changing room; or
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(3) knowing the character and content of the photograph, recording,
broadcast, or transmission, promotes a photograph, rccording, broadcast,
or transmission described by Subdivision (I) or (2).

(c) An offense under this section is a state jail felony.
(d) If conduct that constitutes an offense under this section also constitutes an

offense under any other law, the actor may be prosecuted under this section
or the other law.

(e) For purposes of Subsection (b)(2), a sign or signs posted indicating that the
person is being photographed or that a visual image of the person is being
recorded, broadcast, or transmitted is not sufficient to establish the person’s
consent under that subdivision.

And:

Texas Penal Code: Sec. 21.16. UNLAWFUL DISCLOSURE OR
PROMOTION OF INTIMATE VISUAL MATERIAL. (a) In this section:

(1) “Intimate parts” means the naked genitals, pubic area, anus, buttocks,
or female nipple of a person.

(2) “Promote” means to procure, manufacture, issue, sell, give, provide,
lend, mail, deliver, transfer, transmit, publish, distribute, circulate,
disseminate, present, exhibit, or advertise or to offer or agree to do
any of the above.

(3) “Sexual conduct” means sexual contact, actual or simulated sexual
intercourse, deviate sexual intercourse, sexual bestiality,
masturbation, or sadomasochistic abuse.

(4) “Simulated” means the explicit depiction of sexual conduct that
creates the appearance of actual sexual conduct and during which a
person engaging in the conduct exhibits any uncovered portion of
the breasts, genitals, or buttocks.

(5) “Visual material” means:
(A) any film, photograph, videotape, negative, or slide or any
photographic reproduction that contains or incorporates in any
manner any film, photograph, videotape, negative, or slide; or
(B) any disk, diskette, or other physical medium that allows an
image to be displayed on a computer or other video screen and
any image transmitted to a computer or other video screen by
telephone line, cable, satellite transmission, or other method.
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(b) A person commits an offense if:
(1) without the effective consent of the depicted person and with the

intent to harm that person, the person discloses visual material
depicting another person with the person’s intimate parts exposed or
engaged in sexual conduct;

(2) at the time of the disclosure, the person knows or has reason to
believe that the visual material was obtained by the person or
created under circumstances in which the depicted person had a
reasonable expectation that the visual material would remain
private;

(3) the disclosure of the visual material causes harm to the depicted
person; and

(4) the disclosure of the visual material reveals the identity of the
depicted person in any manner, including through:

(A) any accompanying or subsequent information or material
related to the visual material; or
(B) information or material provided by a third party in response
to the disclosure of the visual material.

(c) A person commits an offense if the person intentionally threatens to disclose,
without the consent of the depicted person, visual material depicting another
person with the person’s intimate parts exposed or engaged in sexual conduct
and the actor makes the threat to obtain a benefit:

(1) in return for not making the disclosure; or
(2) in connection with the threatened disclosure.

(d) A person commits an offense it knowing the character and content of the
visual material, the person promotes visual material described by Subsection
(b) on an Intemet website or other forum for publication that is owned or
operated by the person.

(e) It is not a defense to prosecution under this section that the depicted person:
(1) created or consented to the creation of the visual material; or
(2) voluntarily transmitted the visual material to the actor.

U) It is an affirmative defense to prosecution under Subsection (b) or (d) that:
(1) the disclosure or promotion is made in the course of:

(A) lawful and common practices of law enforcement or medical
treatment;

(B) reporting unlawful activity; or
(C) a legal proceeding, if the disclosure or promotion is permitted

or required by law;
(2) the disclosure or promotion consists of visual material depicting in a

public or commercial setting only a person’s voluntary exposure of:
(A) the person’s intimate parts; or
(B) the person engaging in sexual conduct; or

(3) the actor is an interactive computer service, as defined by 47 U.S.C.
Section 230, and the disclosure or promotion consists of visual material
provided by another person.

(g) An offense under this section is a state jail felony.
(h) If conduct that constitutes an offense under this section also constitutes an

offense under another law, the actor may be prosecuted under this section,
the other law, or both.
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While this behavior occurred off-duty, as a firefighter, FS Garcia has access to people in
their most vulnerable states, including when they are not physically or mentally capable
of defending themselves, their dignity, or their privacy. FS Garcia’s actions erode the
trust I have in his ability to respect and protect the rights and privacy of our clientele.
Furthermore, his actions erode the trust the community has in the Austin Fire
Department, and he admitted he knowingly and intentionally violated these two
provisions of the Texas Penal Code.

By copy of this memo, FS Garcia is hereby advised of this indefinite suspension and that
it may be appealed to the Civil Service Commission by filing with the Director of Civil
Service within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of a copy of this memo, a proper notice
of appeal in accordance with Section 143.010 of the Texas Local Government Code.

By copy of this memo and as required by Section 143.057 of the Texas Local
Government Code, FS Garcia is hereby advised that such section and the Collective
Bargaining Agreement Between the City of Austin and the Austin Firefighters’
Association, Local 975, provide for an appeal to an independent third-party hearing
examiner, in accordance with the provisions of such Agreement. If appeal is made to a
hearing examiner, all rights of appeal to a District Court are waived, except as provided
by Subsection (j) of Section 143.057 of the Texas Local Government Code. That section
states that the State District Court may hear appeals of an award of a hearing examiner
only on the grounds that the arbitration panel was without jurisdiction or exceeded its
jurisdiction or that the order was procured by fraud, collusion, or other unlawful means.
In order to appeal to a hcaring cxamincr, thc original notice of appeal submitted to the
Director of Civil Service must state that appeal is made to a hearing examiner.

622 V~ ~ ______________

Joel G. Baker, Fire Chief Date & TI’me lss

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN:

I hereby acknowledge receipt of the above and foregoing memorandum of indefinite
suspension and I have been advised that, if I desire to appeal, that I have ten (10) calendar
days from the date of this receipt to file written notice of appeal with the Director of Civil
Service in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 143 of the Texas Local Government
Code.

A1’

~ ire Specialist Date & Time Received


